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The defendants the United States of America and Henry A. Kissinger hereby move pursunnt to

Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 12(b)(I) and 12@)(6) to dismiss this action on the grounds that the

Court lacks jurisdiction over the subject matter and that the complaint fails to state a claim upon which
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on February 28, 2003, I served a true copy of the foregoing Motion to
Dismiss by both facsimile and first class mail, postage pre-paid, addressed to the plaintiffs' counsel as
follows:
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Plaintiffs,

V.
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No.1 :02-CV-02240 (HHK)

CERTIFICATION OF SCOPE OF OFFICE OR EMPLOYMENT

I, Helene M. Goldberg, Director, Torts Branch, Civil Division, United States Department of

Justice, acting pursuant to the provisions of 28 U.S.C. § 2679(d)(1), and by virtue of the authority

vested in me by Civil Division Directive No. 90-79, reprz.#fed I.# Appendix to 28 C.F.R. §  15.3,

hereby certify that Henry A. Kissinger was acting within the scope of federal office or employment at

the time of the incident out of which the plaintiff's claims in this action arose.

Dated:  February 28, 2003

/s/
HELENE M. GOLDBERG
Director, Torts Branch, Civil Division
United States Deparment of Justice



CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE .

I hereby certify that on February 28, 2003, I served a true copy of the foregoing  Certification
of Scope of office or Employment by both facsimile and first class mail, postage pre-paid, addressed
to the plaintiffs' counsel as follows:

Michael E. Tigar, Esq.
1025 Connecticut Avenue, NW, Suite 1012
Washington, D.C. 20036

/s/
Richard Montague
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

LAURA GONZALEZ-VERA, ej cz/.,              )

Plaintiffs,

V.

HENRY A. RISSINGER, ef aJ.,

Defendants.

MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES IN SUPPORT
OF THE DEFENDANTS' THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA'S

AND HENRY A. KISSINGER'S MOTION TO DISMISS

The plaintiffs in this action allege that they are "direct victims and/or relatives of direst victims of

the state-sponsored repressive apparatus that ruled Chile following the 1973 coup."  Complaint fl 19.

Despite claiming to be direct victims of repressive measures by a foreign government, the plaintiffs look

for redress to the United States of America and to former Secretary of State Henry A. RIssinger,

whom they purport to sue in both an individual and official capacity. I  They ask the Court to award

compensatory and punitive damages against the United States and former Secretary of State Kissinger,

and they seek declaratory relief.  For the reasons explained below, such relief is unavailable for a

number of reasons, and this suit should be dismissed.  The plaintiffs' claims are non-justiciable,  and the

Court otherwise lacks jurisdiction over the subject matter.  Further, the complaint fails to state claims

upon which relief can be granted against the United States and Dr. Kissinger.

I  During times relevant to this lawsuit, Dr. Kissinger also served as Senior Assistant to the

President for National Security Affairs.  See Compl. fl 33.



®

A.

This action apparently has its genesis in historical events.  The complaint is broad and sweeping,

and, in a number of respects, is contradicted by the historical record.  Nevertheless, in demonstrating

the complaint's jurisdictional and legal insufficiency, we assume for argument's sake that its factual

allegations could be proven.  See A4loore v.  y¢Jder, 65 F.3d 189,192,196 (D.C. Cir.  1995) (Rule

12(b)(1) and 12@)(6) standards); Kowa/ v: MCT Co7"m"#z.c¢Zz.our Coxp.,16 F.3d 1271,1273

(D.C. Cir.1994) (Rule 12(b)(6) standard).  According to the complaint, "[i]n 1970, Dr. Salvador

Allende was democratically elected President by the citizens of chile."  Compl. fl 36.  That was

unacceptable to the United States, and "[i]n order to prevent and remove Dr. Allende from governing

Chile, the United States and Henry RIssinger supported, assisted, and recklessly encouraged members

of the Chilean military who were willing to organize a coup against Dr. Allende."  Jd.  Despite a failed

coup attempt in October 1970, the plaintiffs allege, the United States continued to support Chilean

dissidents in their alleged efforts to overthrow the Allende government inaugurated in November, 1970.

See z.d.  In September,1973, according to the complaint, a successful military coup did occur leading

to overthrow of the Allende government and the "eventual repressive regime of Augusto Pinochet."  Jd.

fl 39.  The plaintiffs further allege that they, or their family members, were victims of the Pinochet

regime's subsequent brutal repression.  See z.d. |||| 14,  19, 20-32.

The gist of the complaint is that the United States instigated the 1973 military coup and

tolerated or encouraged the grave human rights violations of what the plaintiffs describe as the "eventual

repressive regime" that came to power as a result.  These allegations are contrary to both the historical

record and the findings of a Select Committee of the United States Senate.  At a point far closer in time

to the events placed at issue here, the Church Committee, as it was known, investigated "the full range
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of governmental intelligence activities and the extent, if any, to which such activities were `illegal,

improper, or unethical."  ALLEGED ASSASSINATION PLOTS INVOLVING FOREIGN LEADERS:  AN

:  INTERIM REPORT OF THE SELECT COMMITTEE TO STUDY GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS WITH

RESPECT To INTELLIGENCE ACTIVITIES, United States Senate, S. Rep. No. 94-465 at I  (1975)

(hereinafter "Church Committee hterim Report").  The Committee had before it all relevant Executive

Branch documents, which included "raw files from agencies and departments, [and] the White House."

Id. at 2 & n.2.

With respect to the 1970 coup plot that resulted in the death of Chilean Army Commander-in-

Chief General Rene Schneider, see Compl. " 47, 51, the Church Committee found that "United States

officials offered encouragement to the Chilean dissidents who plotted the kidnapping of General Rene

Schneider, but American officials did not desire or encourage Schneider's death."  Jd. at 256.  The

Committee recognized that the CIA's efforts to encourage the Chilean military to intervene and forestall

an Allende presidency were on the direct orders of President Nixon given at a meeting on September

15,1970.  See I.d. at 225, 227-29.  The Committee also found that "[a]lthough the CIA continued to

support coup plotters up to Schneider's shooting, the record indicates that the CIA had withdrawn

active support of the group which carried out the actual kidnap attempt on October 22, which resulted

in Schneider's death."  Jd. at 5.  Indeed, as recounted in the Church Committee Interim Report, in a

me?ting held on October 15,1970, seven days prior to the attempted kidnapping that led to General

Schneider's death, Dr. Kissinger and other officials decided to abandon any support or encouragement

of a coup led by retired Chilean General Roberto Viaux.  See z.d. at 242.  The reason for this decision,

according to the Church Committee Report, was United States officials' belief that such a coup had

little chance of success.  See I.d.  Nevertheless, after a Viaux associate was infomed on October 17,
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1970 of the United States' decision, the Viaux associate responded that the United States' position did

not matter because "they had decided to proceed with the coup in any case."  Jd. at 243.   The

Committee's report continued that "it does not appear that any of the equipment supplied by the CIA to

coup plotters in Chile was used in the kidnapping."  Jd. at 5.  Finally, the Committee concluded that

"[t]here is no evidence of a plan to kill Schneider or that United States officials specifically anticipated

that Schneider would be shot during the abduction."  Jd.2

With respect to the September,1973 coup that overthrew the Allende government, a staff

report prepared for the Church Committee concluded that "[t]here is no hard evidence of direct U.S.

assistance to the coup, despite frequent allegations of such aid.  Rather the United States - by its

previous actions during Track 11 [the CIA effort ordered by President Nixon on September 15, 1970],

its existing general posture of opposition to Allende, and the nature of its contacts with the Chilean

military-probablygavetheimpressionthatitwouldnotlookwithdisfavoronamilitarycoup."

CovERT ACTloN IN CHILE 1963-1973, Staff Report of the Select Committee To Study Governmental

Operations With Respect to Intelligence Activities, at 28 (1975).3  Similarly, what the plaintiffs describe

as the "Hinchey Report," see CIA ACTlvlTIEs IN CHILE (Sept.  18, 2000),4 and cite with apparent

2  The Committee drew a sharp distinction between the Schneider affair and the other

assassinations it studied.  With respect to Fidel Castro and Patrice Lumumba, the Committee identified
what it described as "plots conceived by United States officials to kill foreign leaders."  Jd. at 6.  With
respect to Schneider, the Committee found that "even though the [United States'] support [for Chilean
dissidents] included weapons, it appears that the intention of both the dissidents and the United States
officials was to abduct General Schneider, not to kill him."  Jd.

3j4v¢z./ab/e¢f_wry_w.foia.state.gov/Reports/ChurchReport.as]2.

4  ,41/az./¢b/e ¢f ny_w.odci. gov/cia/pulications/ch±i±e.  Among numerous factual errors or ,

misstatements in the complaint is the description of the "Hinchey Report" as a "2000 Congressional
investigation."  Compl. fl 67.  This report resulted from Congress' direction in Section 311(a) of the

(continued...)
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approval, see, e.g., Compl. fl 67, makes clear that, although the CIA in the 1960s and 1970s

undertook a variety of covert operations designed to influence events in Chile, including providing

support to some coup plotters in 1970, the CIA and the United States did not instigate the 1973 coup

that actually deposed the Allende government.  At most, according to the report, because the CIA was

"aware of coup-plotting by the military, had ongoing intelligence collection relationships with some

plotters, and - because CIA did not discourage the takeover and had sought to instigate a coup in

1970 -[the CIA] probably appeared to condone" the 1973 coup.

The CIA's Hinchey Amendment Report also makes clear that "[a]fter the coup in September

1973, CIA suspended new covert action funding but continued some ongoing propaganda projects,

including support for news media committed to creating a positive image for the military Junta.  Chilean

individuals who had collaborated with the CIA but were not acting at CIA direction assisted in the

preparation of the "White Book," a document intended to justify overthrowing Allende.  It contained an

allegation that leftists had a secret "Plan Z" to murder the high command in the months before the coup,

which CIA believed was probably disinformation by the Junta."  Jd.  United States support of

propaganda efforts by Chilean political elements was nothing new.  As the Hinchey Report explains,

beginning in 1962 and continuing thereafter, the United States supported propaganda efforts in Chile

designed to counter the influence of leftist political movements.  Indeed, " [t]he overwhelming objective

[of CIA covert activities] - firmly rooted in the policy of the period - was to discredit Marxist-leaning

4(...continued)

Intelligence Authorization Act for Fiscal Year 2000, Pub. L. No.106-120,113 Stat.1606 (1999) (the
"Hinchey Amendment"), that the Director of Central htelligence submit a report to designated

committees of the House and Senate a report "describing all activities of officers, covert agents, and
employees of all elements in the intelligence community" with respect to:  AIlende's assassination in
1973 ; Pinchot's a.ccession to power; and subsequent human rights violations by the Pinochet
goverrment.  Jd.
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political leaders, especially Dr. Salvador Allende, and to strengthen and encourage their civilian and

military opponents to prevent them from assuming power."  In light of the communist takeover of Cuba

in 1959 and the Soviet-American rivalry for influence throughout the Third World, the growlh of the
I

Chilean left and the weakening and frogmentation of moderate and conservative political forces were a

matter of concern to the United States.  See I.d.  As for the human rights abuses of the Pinochet redme,

both the Church Committee Staff Report and the CIA's Hinchey Amendment Report make clear that

the United States did not condone the repression.  The CIA did, however, continue contact, for

intelligence gathering purposes, with Chilean security officers, a number of whom were implicated in

human rights abuses..  The purpose of these relationships, the reports point out, was intelligence

gathering with an eye toward extemal threats and communist subversion; the purpose was not to assist

the Pinochet regime in its campaign of suppressing dissent.  See I.d.5

8.

In this case, the plaintiffs seek to predicate liability on a variety of sources, including the

International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, Dec.16,1966, 999 U.N.T.S.171, 61.L.M. 368

5  With respect to CIA liaison activities with Chilean securities services, the Church Committee

Staff Report noted that:

Concern was expressed within the CIA that liaison with such organizations would lay
the Agency open to charges of aiding political repression; officials acknowledged that,
while most of CIA's support to the various Chilean forces would be designed to assist
them in controlling subversion from abroad, the support could be adaptable to the
control of internal subversion as well.  However, the CIA made it clear to the Chileans
at the outset that no CIA support would be provided for use in internal political
repression.  Furthermore, the CIA attempted to influence the Junta to maintain the
norms the Junta had set in its `hstructious [sic] for Handling of Detainees' which closely
followed the standards on human rights set by the 1949 Geneva Convention.

Id. at 40.
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(entered into force Sept. 8, 1992); the Convention Against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or

Degrading Treatment or Punishment, Dec.10,1984,1465 U.N.T.S. 85, 231.L.M.1027 (entered into

force Nov. 20,1994); the Charter of the United Nations, June 26,1945, 59 Stat.1031, TS 993; the

Universal Declaration of Human RIghts, GA Res. 217 (n|), U.N. Doc. A/910 at 71 (1948); the

Charter of the Organization of American States, 2 U.S.T. 2394,119 U.N.T.S. 3, as amended,

Protocol of Buenos Aires of 1967, 21 U.S.T. 607, 721 U.N.T.S. 324; the Declaration of the

Protection of all Persons From Being Subjected to Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading

Treainent or Punishment, G.A. Res. 3452 (XXX), annex, 30 U.N. GAOR Supp. (No. 34) at 91,

U.N. Doc.A/ 10034 (1975); the Organization of American States inter-American Convention to

Prevent and Punish Torture, Dec. 9,1985, 251.L.M. 519; the American Declaration of Rights and

Duties of Man, O.A.S. Res. XXX, adopted by the Ninth International Conference of American States

( 1948), reprinted in Basic Documents Pertaining to Human Rights in the hter-American System,

OEA/Ser. LVAI.82 doc. 6 rev.  I at 17 (1992); the United Nations General Assembly Resolution and

Declaration on the Protection of All Persons from Enforced Disappearance, Dec.18,1992, 321.L.M.

903; the Charter of the International Military Tribunal, August 8,1945, confirmed by G.A. Res. 3,

U.N. Doc. A/50 (1946); the Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court, United Nations

Diplomatic Conference of plenipotentiaries on the Establishment of an htemational Criminal Court, July

17,1998, U.N. Doc. A/CONF.183/9, reprz.#fed I.# 371.L.M. 999; Statute for the International

Criminal Tribunal for Rwanda, Nov. 8,1994, U.N. SCOR, 49th Sess., 3453d mtg., at 1, U.N. Doc.

S/RES/955, reprinted in 331.L.M.1598 (1994); Declaration on the Elinrination of violence Against

Women, G.A. res. 48/104, 48 U.N. GAOR Supp. OVo. 49) at 217, U.N. Doc. A/48/49 (1993); the

Inter-American Convention on the Prevention, Punishment, & Eradication of violence Against Women,
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331.L.M.1534 (entered into force Mar. 5,1995); the Torture Victims Protection Act of 1991, Pub.

L. No.102-256,106 Stat. 73 (1992); 28 U.S.C.1350; the Laws of chile; "Laws of the District of

Columbia, including but not limited to common law principles of wrongful death, assault and battery,

intentional infliction of emotional distress and false imprisonment;" and customary international law.

Compl. " 9,10.  Jurisdiction is predicated on 28 U.S.C. §§  1331,1350, and 1367.  See Compl. fl 6.

ARGUMENT

Introduction

Decades removed from the events at issue it should not be forgotten that the United States'

policy in respect of Chile was formulated against the backdrop of United States-Soviet rivalry and a

number of international crises, all of which in one way or another implicated persistent Cold War

tension between the superpowers.  For example, in the spring of 1970, the Soviet Union moved troops

and air defense missiles into Egypt to strengthen the defense of the Suez Canal.  See H. Kissinger, 7lfee

Wlfez.fe f7o#se. years, 569, 572 (1979).  In September, several aircraft highjackings occurred in the

Middle East.  Syria invaded Jordan, where the captured aircraft and their passenger hostages had been

flown.  United States forces in Europe were placed on alert before the United States both prevailed

upon the Soviet Union to pressure the Syrians to withdraw and successfully negotiated an end to the

hostage crises.  Jd. at 594-631.  While these events were plating out in the Middle East, information

came to light that the Soviets -in disregard of the secret understanding regarding Soviet forces in Cuba

reached between President Kennedy and Premier Khrushchev at the end of the Cuban missile crisis -

were building a submarine .base in Cuba.  That information, and the prospect for yet another

superpower confrontation over Cuba, became public on September 25,1970.  Jd. at 632-52.  These

events, all of which occurred at the same time that the United States was tr)ring to negotiate an end to
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the Viet Nam War, heightened the United States' concern over the prospect that Chile under a Marxist

president might become yet another Communist base in the Western Hemisphere.  See i.d. at 978.

Adjudication of the plaintiffs' claims in this case would involve judicial review of the decisions of

the President of the United States and his closest advisors, based upon their assessment of the national

interest concerning United States foreign policy with respect to Chile.  Lawsuits are not the forum in

which to judge the wisdom or necessity of united States foreign policy.  That is particularly so here.

The plaintiffs' various claims in this case present no judicially cognizable question.  Presenting as they do

questions of foreign and national security policy, neither the United States' response to the potential for

an Allende presidency in Chile nor the United States' response to the human rights abuses of the

"eventual repressive reSme of Augusto Pinochet," Compl. fl 3 9, that followed Allende's overthrow are.

cognizable in a damages suit.  As explained below, dismissal of this case therefore is required under the

political question doctrine.  Moreover, the Court lacks subject matter jurisdiction over the plaintiffs'

claims against the United States, which has not waived its sovereign immunity in the circumstances

alleged in the complaint.  The complaint's factual allegations, even assuming they were true, fail to allege

any actionable claim against Dr. Kissinger who is sued for acts taken in an official capacity as Senior

Assistant to the President for National Security Affairs and as Secretary of State.  Accordingly, the

plaintiffs have no remedy against Dr. Kissinger as a matter of law.

I.  THE POLITICAL QUESTION DOCTRINE BARS
ALL 0F THE PLAINTIFFS' CLAIMS.

"The political question doctrine excludes from judicial review those controversies which revolve

around policy choices and value determinations constitutionally committed for resolution to the halls of

Congress or the confines of the Executive Branch."  Japa# W'%a/z.7!g ,4sS'# v. 4merz.c¢# Cefacec[#
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Socz.edy, 478 U.S. 221, 230 (1986).  As the doctrine has developed, it has come to be recognized "as

essentially a function of the separation of powers."  Bczfaer v.  Carr, 369 U.S.186,  217 (1962).

Several factors help identify those cases that present such a non-justiciable political question:

Prominent on the surface of any case held to involve a political question is found [1] a
textually demonstrable constitutional commitment of the issue to a coordinate political
department; [2] or a lack of judicially discoverable and manageable standards for
resolving it; [3] or the impossibility of deciding without an initial policy determination of
a kind clearly for nonjudicial discretion; [4] or the impossibility of a court's undertaking
independent resolution without expressing lack of the respect due coordinate branches
of government; [5] or an unusual need for unquestioning adherence to a political
decision already made; [6] or the potentiality of embarrassment from multifarious
pronouncements by various departments on one question.

Jd. at 217.  Whenever even one of these factors is "inextricable from the case at bar," the suit must be

dismissed because its judicial resolution can be obtained only by the resolution of an otherwise non-

justiciable question.  See I.d.

The present case quite plainly falls within several of these factors.  Although the plaintiffs have

formulated their claims as seeking the vindication of personal rights, those claims directly challenge the

legality of actions undedaken by Executive Branch officials in response to a perceived national security

threat posed by events occurring in a foreign nation.  The gist of the complaint is that in 1970 the United

States, in response to the prospect of an Allende presidency in Chile, sought to foment a military coup.

See Compl. rm 44, 47.  The 1970 coup attempt failed after General Schneider was shot in a botched

kidnap attempt, but the United States continued to apply pressure to destabilize the Allende

government.  Jd. " 50, 51, 53, 54, 55.  In 1973, a successful coup did occur, and a militaryjunta

seized power in Chile.  Jd. fl 56.  Following the coup, between 1973 and 1978, "brutal repression was

directly coordinated and enforced by the Chilean Directorate of National Intelligence (DINA)."

Compl. fl 60.  Dr. Kissinger and other United States officials were aware of the DINA's brutal
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repression of the Chilean junta's political opponents, see I.d. fl 63, but did not release to the public

infomation regarding the true extent of the DINA repression.  Jd.  During this time, the CIA continued

its intelligence-gathering relationships with Chilean officials, including some directly involved in the

DINA's human rights abuses.  Jd. fl 67.  Further, "[d]espite the knowledge of the DINA's brutal

record, the U.S. Government and Henry Kissinger continued to support the regime and were reluctant

to speak out against these atrocities."  Jd. fl 68.6

Plainly this suit implicates United States foreign and national security policy and raises a non-

justiciable political question.  To begin, there is a clear textually demonstrable commitment of the power

to conduct foreign affairs to the Executive and.Legislative Branches.  It is eleme`ntary that "[t]he conduct

®

®

®

6  The complaint also alleges that while serving as Secretary of State Dr. Kissinger "misled the

intemational community into thinking that Henry Kissinger and the U.S. opposed Pinochet's brutal
repression," but that "behind closed doors, Henry Kissinger indicated to Pinochet that the U.S.
Government was sympathetic to Pinochet's goal of eliminating any ideological opposition."  Compl. ||
74.  The plaintiffs refer to "[a] recently.declassified memorandum of conversation between Pinochet and
Henry Kissinger."  Jd.  That document indicates nothing of the sort.  hstead Dr. Kissinger clearly stated
in several instances the need for the Chilean government to improve its human rights record.  See U.S.
Department of State, Memorandum of conversation of June 8,1976, at 3-6, 9,10.  Statements by Dr.
Kissinger that the plaintiffs inaccurately attribute to sympathy to "Pinochet's goal of eliminating any
ideological opposition" in fact occurred in the context of a discussion of a conflict - potentially a military
conflict - between Chile and Peru and the possibility that Cuban military forces could intervene on
Peru`s behalf.  For example, in the very next sentence after his statement that "[w]e are not out to
weaken your position" (which plaintiffs erroneously describe as expressing "sympathy" for Chile's
repressive human rights policies), Secretary Kissinger stated " [o]n foreign aggression, it would be a

grave situation if one were attacked.  That would constitute a direct threat to the inter-American
system."  h the same conversation, Dr. Kissinger discussed with Pinochet prospects for American aid
to Chile and that "[i]t would help you if you had some human rights progress, which could be
announced in packages.  The most important are the constitutional guarantees" and that "[r]ight to
habeas corpus is also important."  Jd. at 9-10.  .The most that fairly can be said of Dr. Kissinger's
comments to Pinochet is that Dr. Kissinger perhaps was cognizant of chilean sensibilities on the matter
of human rights and therefore emphasized that Chile was not being singled out.  Viewed in the context
of a diplomatic discussion with a foreign head of state, it should be no surprise that Dr. Kissingrr told
Pinochet that his public statements were "not offensive to Chile.  Ninety-five percent of what I say is
applicable to all the governments of the Hemisphere.  It includes things your own people have said."
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of the foreign relations of our Government is committed by the Constitution to the Executive and

Legislative -`the political' -Departments."   Oef/.e# v. Ce#frc!J I,eaffeer Co., 246 U.S. 297, 302

(1918)., Committee Of United States Citizens Living in Nicaragua v. Reagan, 8S9 F .2d 929, 934

(D.C. Cir.1988).  The actions attributed to the United States and Secretary Flssinger fall well within

the conduct of foreign relations.  An Allende government in Chile was deemed inimical to the United

States' interests.  How to react to that event is indisputably a question of foreign relations committed by

the Constitution to the so-called "political" branches of the government.  The same is true with respect

to the accession to power of the militaryjunta that overthrew Allende and how to react to the

subsequent Pinochet govemment's human richts abuses.

Because the events at issue so clearly implicate a matter textually committed to Executive

Branch discretion, it should come as little surprise that the second and third Bczker factors - a lack of

judicially discoverable and manageable standards for resolving the matter, and the impossibility of

deciding without an initial policy determination of a kind clearly for nonjudicial discretion - also apply.

Deciding how to respond to events in Chile between 1970 and 1977 assuredly entails a "policy

determination of a kind for nonjudicial discretion" and is a matter for which judicially discoverable and

manageable standards just do not exist.  Stated another way, there is no discemable legal principle by

which a court can decide that any particular Chilean government would have been better or worse for

the United States' interests and likewise no legal principle by which a court could determine whether the

United States' interests would be better or worse served by assisting those plotting to form an

alternative government.  The same is true with respect to United States policy toward the subsequent

Pinochet regime.   C/ Crasdy 1;. IV¢fz.o#c!/ Fore!.g# rrczc7e Co#%cg./, 530 U.S. 363, 386 (2000) ("We

have * * * not only recognized the limits of our own capacity to `determin[e] precisely when foreign

12



®

nations will be offended by particular acts," * * * "but consistently acknowledged that the `nuances' of

`the foreign policy of the United States . . . are much more the province of the Executive Branch and

Congress than of this Court."  (citations omitted)).

The political character of questions such as these is readily apparent, as recognized in cases

treating as a political question the matter of recognition of foreign governments, for example.  See, e.g.,

Gwar¢#fy r"sf Co. v.  U#z.fed S/a/eJ, 304 U.S.126,137 (1938) ("What government is to be

regarded * * * as representative of a foreign state is a political rather than a judicial question, and is to

be determined by the political department of the government.").  See a/so U#z.fed Sfclfes v. Pz.#fr, 315

U.S. 203 (1942).  ,4ccond Baker, 369 U.S. at 212 (observing that "recognition of foreign governments

so strongly defies judicial treatment that without executive recognition a foreign state has been called `a

republic of whose existence we know nothing." (quoting U#z.fed Sfc!fes v. KJg.7!fock, 18 U.S. (5

Wheat.) 144,149 (1820)); j4#fo/off 1;.  U#!.fed Sf¢fes', 873 F.2d 369, 381-82 (D.C. Cir.1989)

(Sentelle, J., concurring).  Disputes arising from the President's decision to deploy military force against

a foreign government similarly have been recognized as raising a nonjusticiable political question.  See,

e.g., /#d#Sfrz.a Pc!#z/}cfldor¢, fL4 v.  U#z.fed Sfflfes, 763 F. Supp.  I 154,1159-61  (D.D.C.1991),

af fi d on other grounds, 9S7 F.2d 886 (D.C. Cir.199Z).  See also Eminente v. Johnsbn, 361 I.2d

73 (D.C. Cir.  1966) ®er 6uriam).

Quite logically, the decision to lend covert assistance to those who would change a foreign

government from within - perhaps through force - also calls for the exercise of a policy discretion

clearly of a non-judicial nature.  Such judgments also fall in a realm in which there are no judicially

discoverable or manageable standards for resolving controversies implicating the wisdom or propriety

of the challenged government action.  See, e.g., Sa#cAez-Espl.#ozcr v. Reczgr#, 568 F. Supp. 596, 600

13



(DD.C.1983), aff d on other grounds, 770 I .2.d 202 (D.C. Cir.1985).  See also Chaser Shipping

Carp. v.  U#z.fedsfczfes, 649 F. Supp. 736, 738-39 (S.D.N.Y.1986) (suit seeking damages arising

from CIA mining of foreign harbor presented non-justiciable political question), ajord 819 F.2d 1129

(2d Cir.1987).  As Dr.. Kissinger himself has written, "[w]hether and to what extent the United States

should seek to affect the domestic developments in other countries is a complicated question, the

answer to which depends on a variety of elements, including one's conception of the national interest."

Kissinger, at 658.

The conclusion that this case presents a non-justiciable political question is not altered,

moreover, by the fact that the plaintiffs seemingly plead this case as if it were a personal injury tort

action under District of Columbia law and the Alien Tort Act, 28 U.S.C. §  1350 (which allows an alien

to bring suit "for a tort only, committed in violation of the law of nations or a treaty of the United

States").   Clearly the plaintiffs' allegations cannot be addressed without passing on the means by which

the United States reacted to the prospect of an Allende presidency, allegedly by providing support and

encouragement to military coup plotters.  The same is true to the extent to which the plaintiffs take issue

with the United States' reaction to human rights abuses by the successor Pinochet regime.  Efforts to

apply tort or even international law concepts to the facts alleged in this case would serve only to subject

to judicial scrutiny policy decisions regarding the conduct of foreign affairs and covert intelligence

activities.  The wisdom, necessity or (in tort law terms) "reasonableness" of taking such steps on the

United States' behalf are deteminations plainly of a non-judicial character and not susceptible to

analysis through any judicially discoverable or manageable criteria.  See ScI#chez-Espz.7!ozc[, 568 F.

Supp. at 600.  To hold otherwise in this context would mean that virtually any foreign citizen claiming

personal injury or death as the result of the conduct of united States' foreign policy toward his country
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could maintain an action challenging that policy in our courts.    C/ Sa72cAez-Espz.#oza 1;. Reagr#, 770

F.2d 202, 209 (D.C. Cir.  1985) ("[A]s a general matter the. danger of foreign citizens' using the courts

in situations such as this to obstruct the foreign policy of our government is sufficiently acute that we

must leave to Congress the judgment whether a damage remedy should exist.").  That prospect not only

would risk "the potentiality of embarrassment from multifarious pronouncements by various departments

on one question" of foreign policy, it would entail the very judicial encroachment upon the Executive

and Legislative power that the political question doctrine precludes.  No where is that danger more

manifest than in a case where, as here, plaintiffs rely in part on the Secretary of State's personal conduct

of diplomacy with the head of a foreign government as a basis for liability.  See, e.g., Compl. fl 74.

Because foreign policy and national security considerations are inextricable from the case at

bar, the plaintiffs' claims against Dr. Kissinger and the United States present nonjusticiable political

questions.  Accordingly, the United States' and Dr. Kissinger's motion to dismiss should be granted.

11.  SOVEREIGN IMMUNITY BARS THE PLAINTIFFS'
CLAIMS AGAINST THE UNITED STATES.

"It is well established that ` [t]he United States, as sovereign, is immune from suit save as it

consents to be sued ..., and the terms of its consent to be sued in any court define that court's

jurisdiction to entertain the suit."  J# re Sea/ed Case, IVo. 99-309/,192 F.3d 995, 999 (D.C. Cir.

1999) (quoting U#z.fed Sfc[fes 1;. Sfee7-w7ood, 312 U.S. 584, 586 (1941)).    It is similarly well

established that "[a] waiver of the Federal Government's sovereign immunity must be unequivocally

expressed in statutory text, see, e.g., U#z.fed Sfczfes v. IVordz.c yz.//age, J#c., 503 U.S. 30, 33-34, 37 *

* * (1992), and will not be implied."  £cz#e v. Pe#cl, 518 U.S.187,192 (1996) (citing Jrvz.# 1/.

DepartmentofveteransAffoirs,498U.S.g9,95(1990».SeealsoFloydv.D;strictofcolumbia,
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129 F.3d 152,156 (D.C. Cir.1997) ("waivers of sovereign immunity must be unequivocally expressed

in st.atutory text; we camot imply a waiver of sovereign immunity").

No waiver of the United States' sovereign immunity embraces the plaintiffs' various theories of

recovery asserted in their complaint.  Although the Federal Tolt Claims Act, 28 U.S.C. §§  1346(b)(I);

2671-2680 (2000), is a limited waiver of sovereign immunity with respect to federal employees' torts

committed in the scope of office or employment, the plaintiffs expressly disclaim reliance on the FTCA.

See Compl. || 12.  In  addition, the plaintiffs acknowledge that they have not completed the FTCA

administrative claim requirement, see 28 U. S.C. § 2675(a), a jurisdictional prerequisite to instituting suit

under the FTCA.  See f7oferz. v.  U#z.fed Sf¢£es, 782 F.2d 227, 245 (D.C. Cir.  1986), vacated o#

other grounds sub nom. United States v. Hohri, 492 U .S . 64 (198]).7

Because the plaintiffs have not completed the FTCA administrative claim procedure, moreover,

this action must be dismissed notwithstanding the United States' substitution of itself in place of Dr.

Kissinger pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2679(d)(I).  Although the FTCA, as amended by the Federal

Employees Liability Reform and Tort Compensation Act of 1988, provides for substitution of the

United States in place of employees sued in a personal capacity, the Act also provides that upon

substitution. the suit "shall proceed in the same manner as any action against the United States filed

pNIs"Emt to section 1346(b) of this title and shall be subject to the limitations and exceptions

clpp/z.cab/e fo ffeose c!cfz.o7!s."  28 U.S.C. § 2679(d)(4) (emphasis added).  Because the plaintiffs have

7  According to the complaint, "[a]s to * * * any claims for which Plaintiffs are required to

exhaust administrative remedies prior to suit, Plaintiffs have made the appropriate administrative filings,
and will aniend this complaint wfee72 Zfease are reso/ved."  Compl. Th 12 (emphasis added).  The FTCA
requires, however, that a plaintiff s administrative claim be "resolved" - through final denial in writing by
the concerned agency or by the passage of six months without final action by the agency - prior to
instituting suit against the United States.  See § 2765(a).

16



®

not completed the administrative claim process, see Compl. ffl 12, this action must be dismissed for

want of subject matter jurisdiction.8

Instead of relving on the FTCA waiver of sovereign immunity, the plaintiffs' suit against the

United States appears to rest on two postulates:  First, and most sweepingly, the plaintiffs assert that

"the acts complained of are violations of customary and codified intemational law as to which no person

or state may claim immunity."  Compl. fl 13.a.  Second, according to the plaintiffs, "the Administrative

Procedures Act waives sovereign immunity in actions ` seeking relief other than money damages and

statingaclaimthatanagengorofficeroremployeethereofactedorfalledtoactinanofficialcapacity

or under color of legal authority."  Jd. fl 13.b (citing 5 U.S.C. § 702).

That no state may claim immunity from suit for a violation of peremptory norms of international

law hardly is apparent.  See, e.g., Prz.#cz v. Federa/ Jtep#b/!.c a/Gemcr7®};, 26 F.3d 1166,  1174

(D.C. Cir..1994).  h all events, the plaintiffs' first proposition is unsound because it ignores the well-

settled case law recognizing that it is for Congress to conclude that the United States should be subject

to suit for damages.  See fa#e, 518 U.S. at 192 ("A waiver of the Federal Govemment's sovereign

immunity must be unequivocally expressed I.# sf¢f#fory fexf.")  (emphasis added).  None of the

statutes oh which the plaintiffs invoke jurisdiction -28 U.S.C. §§ 1331,1350, and 1367 -contains the

required clear and unequivocal language manifesting a congressional intent to waive sovereign immunity.

Section1331merelyconfersjurisdictionuponfederalcourtstohearcasesarisinguriderfederallaw,

anditiswell-settledthatsuchgeneraljurisdiction-conferringstatutesdo`notwaivesovereignimmunity.

8  Because the action must be dismissed on this ground, it is unnecessary for the Court to

consider here other limitations and exceptions to the FTCA waiver of immunity that likely bar the
plaintiffs' novel claim for relief, such as the FTCA's "discretionary function" exception, see 28 U.S.C. §
2680(a), the foreign country exception, see § 2680(k), and the FTCA's two-year statute of limitations,
see 28 U.S.C. § 2401(b).
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See, e.g., Koehler v. Commissioner Of Internal Revenue,153 F .3d 263, 266 n.2 (5th Cir.1998).

Likewise, it is well-established that the Alien Tort Claims Act, 28 U.S.C. §  1350, does not waive the

United States' sovereign in"wity.  See, e.g.,  Industria Paniifeicadora, S.A. v. United States, 9S7

F.2d 886, 887 (D.C. Cir.  1992) toer curiam); Sa#cfeez-frpz.#oza v. jte¢gr#, 770 F.2d at 207.  The

supplemental jurisdiction statute, 28 U.S.C. §  1367, obviously no more waives sovereign immunity than

does §  1331 or §  1350.  Similarly, the TVPA, various treaties and other sources of international law to

which the plaintiffs refer in their complaint do not operate as a waiver of sovereign immunity.  None

contains the requisite clear and unequivocal statement of congressional intent to waive the United

States' sovereign immunity.  See C¢#¢dz.a# rro#sporf Co. v.  U#z./ed S/ores, 663 F.2d 1081,1092

(D.C. Cir.  1980).

As for the APA, without any viable equitable claims, the plaintiffs have no basis on which to

invoke the APA waiver of immunity.  See 5 U.S.C. § 702 ("Nothing herein (I) affects other limitations

on judicial review or the power or duty of the court to dismiss any action or deny relief on any other

appropriate legal or equitable ground").  The plaintiffs purport to seek declaratory relief, but a plea for

declaratory relief is subject to the same discretionary equitable standards for issuance as is a plea for

injunctive relief.  See S¢#cfaez-Espz.#oz¢ v. J2eagr#, 770 F.2d 202, 208 n.8 (D.C. Cir.1985).  See

a/so Wrz.//o# 1;. Seve# Fa//a Co., 515 U.S. 277, 288 (1995).  What Justice (then-Judge) Scalia wrote

for the Court of Appeals in Scz#chez-Espz.#oza, is no less applicable here:  "[T]he discretionary relief of

declaratoryjudgment is, in a context such as this where federal officers are defendants, the practical

equivalent of specific relief such as injunction or mandamus, since it must be presumed that federal

officers will adhere to the law as declared by the court.  Such equivalence of effect dictates an

equivalence of criteria for issuance."  7.70 F.2d at 208 n.8.
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In this case, the plaintiffs could not even seek an injunction because there is no immediate

likelihood they will suffer irreparable harm.  Under settled principles, a claim of past harm without more

does not confer standing to seek prospective equitable remedies.  See a.fy a/£as ,4#ge/es 1;. dyous,

461 U.S. 95,105 (1983) (while past exposure to alleged illegal conduct was presumably sufficient to

establish plaintiffs standing to sue for damages, it was inadequate standing for injunctive relief).  The

same is true a desire to have declared unlawful the means and ends of united States foreign policy.

"Relief that does not remedy the injury suffered cannot bootstrap a plaintiff into federal court; that is the

very essence of the redressability requirement" of standing.  Szee/ Compa7!); 1;.  a.rz.zeus/or a Beffer

E#i;iro#me#f, 523 U.S. 83,107(1998).  "[A]lthough a suitor may derive great comfort and joy from

the fact that the United States Treasury is not cheated, that a wrongdoer gets his just deserts, or that the

Nation's laws are faithfully enforced, that psychic. satisfaction is not an acceptable Article HI remedy

because it does not redress a cognizable Article Ill injury."  Jd. (citations omitted).  Without sufficient

allegations of future injury, therefore, the plaintiffs have no standing to seek remedies such as injunctive

or dechllatony [die£.  See Fair Employment Council Of Greater Washington, Inc. v. BMC

A4cl7defz.#g Co7ip., 28 F.3d 1268,1272 (D.C. Cir.1994).9  Finally, because the claims in this case

challenge United States foreign and national security policy decisions, discretionary equitable relief

would be particularly inappropriate.  See Sa7!chez-Espz.#ozc!, 770 F.2d at 207 ("At least where the

authority for our interiection into so sensitive a foreign affairs matter as this are statutes no more

specifically addressed to such concerns than the Alien Tort Statute and the APA, we think it would be

an abuse of our discretion to provide discretionary relief.").  h sum, the APA waiver does not apply,

9  For the same reasons, declaratory .relief is unavailable against Dr. Kissinger.  See F¢z.r

Employment Council, 28 F .3d at 12]2.
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and because no clear and unequivocal waiver of the United States' sovereign immunity otherwise

authorizes the plaintiffs' suit, the Court lacks subject matter jurisdiction.  The claims against the United

States should be dismissed.

Ill.  THE COMPLAINT STATHS NO COGNIZABLE CLAIMS
AGAINST DR. KISSINGER.

The plaintiffs purport to sue former Dr. Kissinger allegedly in both his official capacities as

former Secretary of State and Senior Assistant to the President for National Security Affairs, and in his

individual capacity.  As explained below, Dr. Kissinger is immune from suit, and the claims against him

should be dismissed.  The Wesorcz// Act amendments to the Federal Tort Claims Act shield D.r.

Kissinger from suit for the plaintiffs' clains under treaties, international law, and District of Columbia

tort law.  In addition, federal common law bars the plaintiffs' claims based on District of Columbia local

tort law.  The plaintiffs also state no actionable claim against Dr. Kissinger under the Torture Victims

Protection Act of 1991, and Dr. Kissinger is in any event immune from suit under the TVPA.

A.  Dr. Kissinger  is Entitled to Absolute Immunity from Suit.

Commonly referred to as the " Wresorc!// Act," the Federal Employees Liability Reform and Tort

Compensation Act of 1988, Pub. L. No.100-694,102 Stat. 4563 (1988) (codified in part at 28

U.S.C. §§ 2671, 2674, 2679), generally confers upon all federal officers and employees a broad

absolute immunity from suit for their "negligent or wrongful act[s] or omission[s]" while acting in the

scope of office or employment.  See 28 U.S.C. § 2679(b)(1);  U#z.red Sf¢fes v. Smz.Zfe, 499 U.S.160,

163 (1991).  See a/so Kz.mbro iJ.  ye//e#, 30 F.3d 1501,1504 (D.C. Cir.  1994).  Because the

Attorney General's designee has certified that Dr. Kissinger was acting in the scope of office or

employment at the time of the incidents out of which the plaintiffs claims arose, he is entitled to be    I
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"dismissed from the action and the United States is substituted as defendant."  Gwfz.errez de A4:arfz.#ez

1/. £¢m¢gro, 515 U.S. 417, 420 (1995).

With the possible exception of any claim under the Torture Victims Protection Act (discussed

below) the Wesorcz// Act disposes of all of the plaintiffs' claims against Dr. Kissinger, including the

claims under treaty, international law and the Alien Tort Claims Act.  The Wesorc!// Act was intended to

confer upon federal offlcials a form of absolute immunity from suit in all but two narrow categories of

federal claims for relief.  As the Act is written, it precludes any civil suit against a government employee

based upon "the negligent or wrongful act or omission of [that] employee of the Government while

acting within the scope of office or employment," and makes an FTCA suit against the United States

plaintiffs' exclusive means of recovery on any such claims.  See 28 U.S.C. § 2679(b)(I).  "Any other

civil action or proceeding for money damages arising out of or relating to the same subject matter

against the employee or the .employee's estate.is precluded without regard to when the act or omission

occurred."  Jd.

There are only two exceptions to this broad rule of statutory immunity.  First, Congress

preserved personal liability in so-called "Bz.ve#S actions, " I.. e., suits against government officials in an

individual capacity to recover money damages for alleged violations of the Constitution, e.g., Bz.veus v.

Six Unknown Named Agents Of the Fed. Bureau Of Narcotics, 403 U .S. 388 (L97 I).  See 2;8

U.S.C. § 2679(b)(2)(A).  That exception is inapplicable here, where the plaintiffs have not alleged that

Dr. Kissinger violated the United States Constitution.

Second, Congress preserved. personal liability for certain federal statutory claims -those which

are "brought for a violation of a statute of the United States under which such action against an

individual is otherwise authorized."  28 U.S.C. § 2679(b)(2)(B).  With perhaps the exception of the
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plaintiffs' TVPA claim, this second exception to the general rule of immunity also does not apply to the

claims at issue here.  To the extent the plaintiffs rely on various treaties or on sources of international

law as the basis for the rights they claim were infringed, see Compl. rm 8, 9, their suit simply is not one

for "a violation of a statute of the United States."  The same obviously is true of the plaintiffs' various

claims under District of Columbia law.

This analysis is unchanged by the plaintiffs' reliance on the Alien Tort Claims Act, 28 U.S.C. §

1350.  Section 1350 provides that "[t]he.district courts shall have original jurisdiction of any civil action

by an alien for a tort only, committed in violation of the law of nations or a treaty of the United States."

That the official conduct alleged here even is actionable under §  1350 is open to doubt.'°  In any event,

it is clear that §  1350 creates no substantive rights or duties such that §  1350 can be "violated;" a

necessary requirement for application of the § 2679(b) (2)@) exception to immunity.  See Smz.ffe, 499

U.S. at 173-74.  Instead, §  1350 contemplates that the district courts can entertain an action for the

violation of substantive rights confelTed elsewhere, namely by the law of nations or by a treaty of the

United States.  Accordingly, because United States officials camot "violate" §  1350, the liability

preserving exception of § 2679(b)(2)(B) does not apply to such claims.  See .4/v¢rez-A4l¢cfeaz.7c 1/.

U#z.fed Sf¢/es, 266 F.3d 1045,1053-54 (9th Cir. 2001) (so holding), ".ffedr¢w#, 284 F.3d 1039

]°  Although some courts have recognized §  1350 to authorize a cause of action for aliens

seeking redress for violations of international law, see, e.g., Fz./czrfz.gr v. Pe#a-/7icz/cI, 630 F.2d 876 (2d
Cir.1980), the issue remains undecided in this Circuit.   Co77?pc!re re/-Ore7! v. £z.Z7)/cz73 .47itzb Rep#b/z.c,
726 F.2d 774, 811-16 (D.C. Cir.  1984) (Bork, J., concurring) (concluding that §  1350 confers

jurisdiction but does not by itself confer a cause of action), wz.ffe I.cJ. at 791 -96 (Edwards, J.,
concurring) (concluding that §  1350 does provide a private cause of action).  See ci/so Scr#cfaez-
Espz.#ozc! iJ. jteczgr#, 770 F.2d 202, 206-07 (D.C. Cir.  1985).
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(9th Cir. 2002).I I  See a/so U#zted Sfc[Jes v. Smz.ffa, 499 U.S. at 173-74.  Dr. Kissinger remains

irrmune from suit.

8.  Common Law Immunity Also Bars the Plaintiffs' Claims.

Although it is a fundamental principle of our federal system of government that "[t]here is no

federal genertz/ common law," Erfe A. Co. v. roxpfaz.#s, 304 U.S. 64, 78  (1938) (emphasis added),

it is equally well-established that "a few areas, involving `uniquely federal interests,' * * * are so

committed by the Constitution and laws of the United States to federal control that state law is pre-

empted and replaced, where necessary, by federal law of a content prescribed (absent explicit statutory

directive) by the courts -so-called `federal common law."  Bo);/e v. U7".fed recA#o/ogz.es Carp.,

487 U.S. 500, 504 (1988) (citations omitted).    As demonstrated below, this principle defeats the

plaintiffs' District of Columbia tort law claims challenging the manner in which Dr. Kissinger conducted

his official responsibilities on behalf of the United States.

For federal displacement of state law to happen, two conditions must be met.  First, the subject

matter at issue must be an area of "uniquely federal interest."  Jd. at 504.  The Bo);/e court identified the

"liability of federal officials for actions taken in the course of their duty" I.d. at 505, as well as "the

liability of independent contractors  performing work for the Federal Government," i.d. at 505 n.1, as

two such areas of "uniquely federal interest."  See z.d. at 505.  The  Court explained that both examples

"obviously implicated the same interest in getting the Govemment's work done."  Jd.

I I   The ,4/varez-A4lczcfeaz.7c opinion was withdrawn after the Court of Appeals for the Ninth

Circuit granted the United States' petition for rehearing en banc, which raised different issues.  j4Jw[rez-
A4lacfeaz.H remains persuasive authority on the application of § 2679(b)(I) to claims such as the plaintiffs
bring here.
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The second condition for the displacement of state law by a federal common law rule requires

that "a ` significant conflict' exists between an identifiable ` federal policy or interest and the [operation]

of state law," i.d. at 507, or that "the application of state law would `frustrate specific objectives' of

federal legislation * * * ."  Bo};/e, 487 U.S. at 507 (citations omitted).  When the area in question is one

of uniquely federal concern, moreover, "[t]he conflict with federal policy need not be as sharp as that

which must exist for ordinary preremption when Congress legislates `in a field which the States have

traditionally occupied."  Jd. (citation omitted).  "[T]he fact that the area in question is one of unique

federal concern changes what would otherwise be a conflict that cannot produce pre-emption into one

that can."  jd. (footnote omitted).

Those two conditions for displacement of state tort law plainly are triggered here.  First, the

plaintiffs seek to hold Dr. Kissinger personally liable for his conduct in office as Senior Assistant to the

President for National Security Affairs and as Secretary of State.  This lawsuit plainly implicates the

govemment's ability to "get its work done."  Bo);/e, 487 U.S. at 505.  That general interest in getting the

govemment's work done consistently has been recognized to justify some forin of federal common law

rule exempting federal officials from state tort liability.  See z.d.  See cl/s.o Pyesf/aJ/ 1;. Erwz.#, 484 U.S.

292, 295 (1988); f7oward 1/. £]/o#s, 360 U.S. 593, 597 (1959); Marfz.# v. "a/feo);/, 830 F.2d 237,

250-51 (D.C. Cir.1987).  In addition, this lawsuit implicates another, more particular, area of uniquely

federal interest -the conduct of our nation's foreign affairs.  As we demonstrate, the plaintiffs' efforts to

hold a high-level federal official personally liable for his conduct of the nation's foreign policy produces

a sharp conflict between federal and state authority such that a federal common law rule of immunity

must apply to defeat state tort liability.
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"Our system of government is such that the interest of the cities, counties and states, no less than

the interest of the people of the whole nation, imperatively requires that federal power in the field

affecting foreign relations be left entirely free from local interference."  fJz.#es v. Davz.dowz.&, 312 U.S.

52, 63 (1941).  The Constitution's delegation of a variety of powers to the national government, and its

denial to the States of a variety of other powers regarding relations with foreign governments has been

recognized to vest in the national government exclusive authority to conduct the foreign relations of the

United States.  As the Supreme Court has explained, "[p]ower over external affairs is not shared by the

States; it is vested in the national government exclusively."   U7ez.fed SfczJes 1;. Pz.#fr, 315 U.S. at 233.

This so-called "foreign affairs power of the federal government," see, e.g., Ivafz.o#c[/ Forez.gr Trade

Council v. Natsios,181 F .3d 38, 49 (1st Cir. 1999), affd on other grounds, sub nom. Crosby v.

IVclfz.o#¢/ Foreg.gr rrclde Cow#cz./, 530 U.S. 363 (2000), has been recognized to operate in a marmer

much like the "dormant" commerce power:  Even in the absence of specific federal action, the power's

very delegation to the federal government operates to invalidate certain state action whose effeet is

inconsistent with that delegation's purpose.  See Zscfeer77z.g v. A4z.//er, 389 U.S. 429, 440-41  (1968).

See a!/so IV¢/s'z.as,  181  F.3d at 52-54. '2

'2  The ten "foreign affairs power" is something of a misnomer.  hstead of granting a "foreign

affairs power" in so many words, the Constitution grants a number of foreign affairs-type powers to the
Congress and the President, while denying, (or in some instances strictly conditioning the exercise of )
the same or similar powers with respect to the states.  Hence, Congress is granted the powers "[t]o lay
and collect Taxes, Duties, Imposts and Excises, to pay the Debts and provide for the common Defence
and general Welfare of the United States," U.S. Const. art.I, § 8, cl.  1 ; "[t]o regulate Commerce with
foreign Nations," I.d. cl. 3; "[t]o establish an uniform Rule of Naturalization," z.d. cl. 4; "[t]o define and

punish Piracies and Felonies committed on the high Seas, and Offences against the Law of Nations," z.d.
cl.  10; and "[t]o. declare War, grant Letters of Marque and Reprisal, and make Rules concerning
Captures on Land and Water," I.d. cl.  I I. In addition, "[t]he Congress shall have Power to declare the
Punishment of Treason." Jd. art. IH, § 3, cl. 2.  "Treason against the United States" is defined as
"levying war against them, or in adhering to their Enemies, giving them Aid and Comfort."  Jd., cl. I .

(continued...)
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Accordingly, in Zscfeer#z.g, the Supreme Court held unconstitutional - under the domant

"foreign affairs power" - an Oregon probate statute requiring escheat where a nouresident alien claimed

real or personal property except under certain conditions.  The Supreme Court began by noting that in

C/¢rfe v. .4//en, 331 U.S. 503 (1947), it had upheld a probate statute containing a "general reciprocity

clause" which "would have only.` some incidental or indirect effect in foreign countries."  Zscfeemz.g,

389 U.S. at 433 (quoting Clark, 331 U.S. at 517).  In addressing the Oregon statute, the Court noted

that since its decision in Clark, "the probate courts of the various States have launched inquiries into the

typeofgovemmentsthatobtaininparticularforeignnatibns-whetheraliensundertheirlawhave

enforceable rights, whether the so-called ` rights' are merely dispensations tuning upon the whim or

caprice of government officials, whether the representation of consuls, ambassadors and other

representatives of foreign nations is credible or made in good faith, whether there is in the actual

administration in the particular foreign system of law any element of confiscation."  Jd. at 433-34.  The

Court observed that, consistent with this trend, the Oregon statute "as constmed seems to make

12(...continued)

With respect to the President's powers, the Constitution appoints him Commander in Chief of
the armed forces, I.d. art.11, § 2, cl.I, and, with the advice and consent of the Senate, grants him the
power "to make Treaties" and to "appoint Ambassadors," z.d. cl. 2. Additionally, the President is
empowered to "receive Ambassadors and other public Ministers. " Jd. § 3.

In contrast to the federal government the states are forbidden to "enter into any Treaty,
Alliance, or Confederation" or to "grant Letters of Marque and Reprisal," I.d. art.I, §  10, cl. I ; they
may not "without the Consent of the Congress, lay any Imposts or Duties on Imports or Exports,
except what may be absolutely necessary for executing [their] inspection Laws," z.d. cl. 2; and may not,
"without the Consent of Congress * * * enter into any Agreement or Compact with another State, or

with a foreign Power, or engage in War, unless actually invaded, or in such
imminent Danger as will not admit of delay." Jd. cl. 3.  In addition, the Constitution provides that  "no
Person holding any Office of profit or Trust under [the United States], shall, without the Consent of the
Congress, accept any present, Emolument, Office, or Title, of any kind whatever, from any King,
Prince, or foreign State." Jd. § 9, cl. 8.
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unavoidable judicial criticism of nations lestablished on a more authoritarian basis than our own."  Jd. at

440.  That course of decision, the Court explained, had the potential to adversely affect foreign
I

relations because other nations micht react unfavorably to such treatment of their citizens based on state

I

courts' evaluations of foreign governments and their policies and thereby trenched upon the exclusive

federal power regarding foreign affairs.  See I.d. at 440-41.

The continued vitality ofzscfoem!.g and its "dormant foreign affairs power"I 3 doctrine was

recognized recently by the Court of Appeals for the First Cilicuit which held unconstitutiorml a

MassachusettslawrestrictingtheabilitybftheStateanditsagenciestocontractwithfirmsconducting

business in Burma.  See IV¢tsz.as,181 F.3d at 49-61.  Rejecting Massachusetts' argument that its

Burma law was permissible in light of zscfeer#z.g as merely having an "incidental or indirect effect in

foreigncountries,"theFirstCircuitreasohedthat"Zscher7ez.gstandsfortheprinciplethatthereisa

threshold level of involvement in and im|}act on foreign affairs which the states may not exceed."

I

Ivatsz.as,181  F.3d at 52.

Although the exact scope of zscfeey#z.g's broad holding remains to be explored, See IV¢tsz.os,

181 F.3d at 57, the fact that the federal goverrment's so-called "foreign affairs power" alone can render

state action unconstitutional -even in the 'absence of federal action -serves to illustrate that foreign

affairs is one of those "few areas, involving `uniquely federal interests,' * * * [that] are so committed by

the Constitution and laws of the United States to federal control that state law is pre-empted and

replaced, where necessary," by federal common law rules.  Bo);/e, 487 U.S. at 504.  In this instance,

the plaintiffs would have District of Columbia tort law applied to judge the actions of united States

`3  See L. Henkin, Foreign Affairs and the United States Constitution, 162 (1996) (ched in

IVc!tsz.as,181  F.3d at 59 n.14).
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officials, including the Secretary of state, caITving out foreign policy.  The States and the District,

however, have no role to play in the formulation of foreign policy, whether it be by judgivg the policies

of foreign governments, See, e.g., ZScAemz.g, 389 U.S. at 440-41 ; Iva!tsz.as,181 F.3d at 49-61, or by

judging the actions of united States offlcials in formulating and executing our own govemment's policy

in respect of foreign nations.  If, as Zscfeer#!.g teaches, "foreign policy attitudes, the freezing or thawing

of the `cold war' and the like" are "matters for the Feder4l Government, not for local probate courts,"
I

I.d. at 437-38, then assuredly passing upon the means and ends of united States foreign policy is for the

I

Executive Branch and the Congress, not for local courts adjudicating personal injury tort suits.

In sum, the plaintiffs' claims in this case indisputably implicate an area of uniquely federal

concern.  That alone lessens the degree of conflict betwe?n federal and state policy needed for

displacement of state law and application of an appropriate federal common law rule.  See BeyJe, 487
I

U.S. at 507.  Where, as here, the States (and District of columbia) have little or no traditional role in

regard of the subject matter at issue, the application of a federal immunity mle barring suit is all the more

essential to safeguarding the proper functioning of our federal system.  To do otherwise would all but

invite foreign nationals displeased with our nation's foreign policy to bring suit for damages in a local

courts across the country, or even perhaps seek injunctions in those forums.  Accordingly, because Dr.

Kissinger was performing foreign policy and national security functions with respect to the events

alleged in the complaint, he should be accorded absolute immunity from suit under state or District of

Columbia law.                                                                                   I

C.  The plaintiffs State No Cognizable Claim Under the TVPA.

I.  The plaintiffs also invoke the Torture Victims Protection Act of 1991, Pub. L. No.102-

256,106 Stat. 73 (1992).("TVPA"), as a basis for their suit.  The TVPA was enacted more than
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® twenty ye`ars after the events alleged in the complaint.  It amends the Alien Tort Claims Act and

provides for civil liability for torture or extrajudicial killing carried out by an individual "under actual or

apparent authority, or color of law, of any foreign nation."  TVPA § 2(a),102 Stat. at 73.  Althouch the

TVPA is engrafted upon the Alien Tort Claims Act, it arguably contains in its definitions of "torture" and

"extrajudicial killing" substantive norms such that the TVPA, unlike §  1350 generally, can be "violated."

Assuming for argument's sake that a claim under the TVPA falls within the exception to absolute

immunity provided in 28 U.S.C. § 2679(b)(2)(B), the complaint nevertheless states no cognizable claim

against Dr. RIssinger or Ambassador Helms under the TVPA.

First, the TVPA imposes liability only upon individuals acting "under actual or apparent

authority, or color of law a/a#);/orez.gr #czfz.o# * * * ."   TVPA § 2(a),  102 Stat. at 73 (emphasis

added).  High-level United States officials, such as `the Secretary of State or the President's national

securityadvisorassuredlydonotact"underactualorapparentauthority,orcoloroflawofanyforeign

nation."'4  By its terms, then, the TVPA affords no claim against Dr. Kissinger.  See c[/so W%z.fe v.

Pa!w/Jen, 997 F. Supp.1380,1385 n.I  (E.D. Wa.1998) ("On its face, the richt of action created by

theTortureVictimProtectionActislimitedtoconducttakenundercoloroflawofa`foreign'nation.

Pub. L.  No.  102-256, § 2.").

Second, even if the TVPA were not limited to those who act under color of foreign law, it could

not be applied retroactively to impose liability upon United States officials.  As a general rule, statutes

will not be construed to have retroactive effect unless their language so requires.  See Gersma# v.

`4  Indeed, in his statement upon signing the TVPA into law, the first President Bush expressly

noted this important limitation on the scope of the TVPA remedy.  See Stateme.nt By President George
Bush Upon Signing H.R. 2092, 22 Weekly Comp. Pres. Doc. 465 (Mar.16,1992) ("I do not believe
it is the Congress' intent that H.R. 2092 should apply to United States Amed Forces or law
enforcement operations, which are always carried out under the authority of united States law.").
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Gro#p f7e¢/ffe .4sLr'#, J#c., 975 F.2d 886, 897-98 (D.C. Cir.1992).  A statute has retroactive effect if

itsapplication"wouldimpairrightsapartypossessedwhenheacted,increaseaparty'sliabilityforpast

conduct, or impose new duties with respect to transactions already completed."  La#dgrq/v.  UST

Fz./in Prodwcts, 511 U.S. 244, 280 (1994).

Were it applied to Dr. Kissinger here, the TVPA would have retroactive effect, something its

language clearly does not require.  First, as demonstrated above, the 1988 Wesorcz// Act amendments

to the FTCA confer a form of absolute immunity from suit, see U#z.fed Sftzfes v. Smz.fA, 499 U.S. at

163, broad enough to bar personal capacity damages claims for violations of treaties or the law of

nations.  See 4/varez-A4czcAaz.#, 266 F.3d at 1053-54.  The TVPA was enacted in 1992 and the

plaintiffs'clai`munderiteitherfallswithintheJyesora#Actbar(liketherestoftheplaintiffs'claims),or

falls within the Wes'or¢// Act exception preserving personal liability for claims "brought for a violation of

a statute of the United States under which such action against an individual is otherwise authorized."  28

U.S.C. § 2679(b)(2)(B).  For the TVPA to meet the latter test, however, it must be regarded as a

statutory cause of action creating duties the violation of which are actionable under 28 U.S.C. §

2679(b)(2)(B).  See ge#er¢//ry S"z.jrfe, 499 U.S. at 173-74 (explaining when a statute triggers the §

2679(b)(2)(B) exception to immunity).  In that case, however, the TVPA, when applied to United

States officials' pre-enactment conduct, clearly "impair[s] rights a party possessed when he acted,

increase[s] a party's liability for past conduct, [and] impose[s] new duties with respect to transactions

already completed," and therefore is retroactive.  £cI#dgro/, 511 U.S. at 280.  Simply put, had

Congress not created the TVPA cause of action in 1992, Dr. Kissinger would be immune from suit for

the events on which the plaintiffs premise their TVPA claim.  Thus, application of the TVPA to pre-

enactment conduct by United States officials would impose new violable statutory duties where none
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existed before; it would impair rights (immunity from suit) those officials possessed prior to enactment;

and it would increase the liability of those officials for their pre-enactment conduct (a consequence of

creating a new duty the violation of which carries no immunity under § 2679(b)(2)(B)).

Because the TVPA would operate in this marmer if applied to United States officials sued for

their pre-enactment conduct, the statute in that respect would have to be deemed "retroactive."  See

faj7dgrtz/, 511 U.S. at 280.  Yet nothing in the statutory language indicates that such a result is

necessary to accomplish the TVPA's purpose or that Congress ever intended such a result.  To the

contrary, all indications in the statutory text are that Congress never imagined application of the TVPA

to United States officials acting in an official capacity in respect of foreign policy or national security.

Had Congress intended application (retroactive or otherwise) of the TVPA to United States officials,

presumably it would have said so in language far more indicative of such an intent than the requirement

that the defendant act "under actual or apparent authority, or color of law of any foreign nation."

Because the TVPA does not apply to United States officials acting in an official capacity, and

because the Act clearly can have no retroactive application to such official acts, the complaint fails to

state any cognizable claim under the TVPA and should be dismissed."

'5  j4/varez-A4ac%crz.# v.  U#z.fed Sfc!fes,107 F.3d 696, 702-03 (9th Cir.1996),. is not to the

contrary.  Although the court in that case held that the TVPA could be applied to pre-enactment
conduct of individuals hired by Ding Enforcement Administration officials to abduct the plaintiff in
Mexico and turn him over to DEA in the United States, the court did not address the question of
whether the TVPA could be applied to pre-enactment conduct of the DEA officials themselves or even
whether the TVPA gave rise to a cognizable claim against United States officials acting in an official
capacity.  Indeed, the court noted the defendant's argument that the TVPA might be retroactive and
therefore not apply with respect to a government official entitled to Wesora!/J Act immunity.  Because
the defendant was not entitled to claim Wesorc[// Act immunity, however, the court deemed this
argument "too remote" to affect application of the TVPA in that case.  See I.d. at 703.
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D.  Qualified Immunity Bar Plaintiffs' Claims Under the
TVPA, Treaty and International Law.

Aside from the retroactivity problem, the TVPA claim also is barred, at a minimum, by Dr.

Kjssinger's qualified immunity from suit.  Under Hay/ow v. Fz.fzger¢/d, 457 U.S. 800 (1982),

"government officials perfoming discretionary functions, generally are shielded from liability for civil

damages insofar as their conduct does not violate clearly established statutory or constitutional rights of

which a reasonable person w;uld have known."  Jd. at 818 (citation omitted).  See a/so Davit v.

Schemer, 468 U.S.183,194 n.12 (1984) ("[O]fficials become liable for damages only to the extent that

there is a cl;ar violation of the statutory rights that give rise to the cause of action for damages.").

Under this standard, "whether an official protected by qualified immunity may be held personally liable

for an allegedly unlawful official action generally turns on the ` objective legal reasonableness' of the

action, j7ar/ow, 457 U.S. at 819, assessed in light of the legal rules that were `clearly established' at the

tim.e it was taken, z.d., at 818."  ,47cderso# 1;.  Cre!.gfefo#, 483 U.S. 635, 639 (1987).  See a/so B#fera

v. Dz.sfrz.ct a/Co/wmbz.a, 235 F.3d 637, 646-47 (D.C. Cir. 2001).

In this instance, the events alleged in the complaint occurred between 1970 and 1977 (when

Dr. Kissinger left office).  See, e.g., Compl. fl 33.  The TVPA was enacted on March 12,1992, see

106 Stat. at 73, and accordingly was not among "the legal rules that were `clearly established" at the

time of Dr. Kissinger's alleged injury-causing actions.  That statute, therefore, cannot be a basis for

personal liability with respect to the events at issue.  The f7a7'/ow standard is designed to allow officials

to act "with independence and without fear of consequences" in circumstances in which the law is not

clearly established.  fJar/ow, 457 U.S. at 819 (quoting P!.erSo# 1;. Rc[);, 386 U.S. 547, 554 (1967)).

To this end, officials are not required to predict the future course of the law on pain of damages should

32



®

®

®

theyguesswrong.SeeWz./So#v.£czj/#e,526U.S.603,617(1999).Consistentwiththeseprinciples,

qualifiedimmunitybarsdamagesclaimsagainstgoverrmentofflcialsbaseduponlater-enactedstatutes,

such as the rvpA.  See, e.g.,   Wer#er u "cCo/fer, 49 F.3d 1476,1481 (loth Cir.1995) (qualified

immunitybarreddamagesclaimsbaseduponsubsequentenactmentofReligiousFreedomRestoration

Actof1993);Frz.edm¢«v.So"fA,92F.3d989(9thCir.1996)(same);Ge#asv.SJ&Jeo/Ivewyo7i*

DeparJmenJo/Comecf!.o%a/Se"S.,75F.3d825,831n.6(2dCir.1996)(same).'6

Dr.KissingeralsoisentitledtoqualifiedimmunilybecauseapplicationofthervpA'sstandards

inthesecircumstancesisunclearinanyevent.Asnotedabove,thervpAimposespersonalliability

uponindividualsacting"underactualorapparentauthority,orcoloroflaw,ofanyforeignnation."

TVPA § 2,102 Stat. at 73.  That this later-enacted standard reaches the conduct of united States

goverrmentofficialscarDingoutUnitedStatesforeignandnationalsecuritypolicyisanythingbut

"clearly established," even today.

Finally,qualifiedirmunityalsobarstheplaintiffs'claimsbroughtundertreatyandintemational

law.Thattheconductallegedinthecomplaintwas"clearly"unlawhlinthesensethatfJar/owrequires

beforeofficialsaremadetopaydamages,See4ftderso„v.Cre!.gfefo#,483U.S.at640-41,simplyis

not apparent.  C/ Sa„che-£Spi.#oza, 702 F.2d at 205, 206-07 (questioning whether United States

•6Inthisrespect,thequalifiedimmunityruleappliedtostatutorycausesofactionoftencan

yieldthesameresultasthegeneralpresumptionthatstatuteswillnotbeconstruedtohaveretroactive
effectunlesstheirlanguagesorequires.SeeGerFmare,975F.2dat897-98.Qualifiedimmunity
doctrine,however,hasanadditionalcomponent;itprotectsdiscretionarydecisionmakingbyfederal
and state government officials and thereby serves the public interest.  See fJar/ow, 457 U.S. at 814-16.
Soevenwhenasageneralmatterastatute'slanguagemayrequireretroactiveapplication,theneedto
protectdiscretionarygovemmentdecisionmakingmayrequirequalifiedimmunityforofficialswho
reasonatly could not anticipate that their actions later would be made unlawful.
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officials' "alleged support of forces bearing arms against the government of Nicaragua" violated any

treaties of the United States).

*****

Implicit in the plaintiffs' suit is the premise that a right ofjudicial review exists to second guess

the means and ends of united States foreign policy at the behest of foreign citizens who no doubt

vigorouslydisagreewiththatpolicy,andthatcourtsmaychecksupposedforeignpolicyexcessesofthe

political branches by application of both intemational and domestic tort law.  Today United States

forces are engaged in combat in Afghanistan seeking to protect, not only the national interest, but the

very safety of American citizens at home.  The President deployed our armed forces with the support of

a virtually unanimous Congress at a time of clear national emergency.  If suits such as the present one

were permissible in our courts, foreign citizens opposed to our govemment's policies would be free to

set the Judicial Branch of government on a collision course with the President and Congress.

Moreover, covert operations, such as the plaintiffs would challenge here, provide the President and

Congress an alternative to direct military force when dealing with foreign governments whose policies

are thought inimical to the United States' interests.  That is no less true today, when our Goverrment

mustconfrontthreatsposedbyterroristorganizations,na[ionsthatmayharborterrorists,andbynations

that pose a threat to our national security because seeking to obtain weapons of mass destruction.  Yet

under the plaintiffs' theories, there is no apparent reason why a foreign citizen claiming injury as the

result of united States support of foreign dissidents could not bring a suit such as this and thereby

challenge the means and ends of united States foreign policy.  One need only pay a filing fee and allege

an intent to "terrorize" a foreign population, see, e.g., Scz/fany v. jzeczgr#, 702 F. Supp. at 320, or

some other asserted international or domestic "tort" to set in motion judicial review of the mamer by
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whichourgovemmentattendstothenationalinterestinthealwaysturbulent,oftenviolent,realmof

international affairs.

As explained above, the political question doctrine plainly forecloses such a constitutional

conundmm.  Neither section 1350 nor the TVPA was intended as a vehicle for United States courts to

judgethelawfulnessofunitedStatesgovemmentactionsabroadindefenseofnationalsecurity.jhay

remediesforsuchactionsareappropriatelymattersforresolutionbythepoliticalbranches,notthe

courts.Forthesereasons,andfortheotherreasonsestablishedabove,theplaintiffsplainlycanprove

nosetoffactscousistentwiththeirallegationsthatwouldentitlethemtorelief,andthecomplaintshould

be dismissed.
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CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Motion to Dismiss on behalf of the United States and Dr.

Kissinger should be granted.
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